UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
For the Fifth Crcuit

No. 93-2952
Summary Cal endar

United States of Anerica,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS

Donal d R Branham
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
For the Southern District of Texas
(CR-H 93-06-2)

(Novenper 29, 1994)

Bef ore JONES, BARKSDALE and BENAVI DES, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM *

Appel l ant was convicted upon his pleas of guilty to bank
fraud, conspiracy to commt bank fraud, and twenty counts of
m sapplication of funds. His appeal attacks the sentence inposed.

We AFFI RM

Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions
t hat have no precedential value and nerely decide particul ar cases
on the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess
expense on the public and burdens on the legal profession.™
Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned that this opinion
shoul d not be publi shed.



FACTS

According to an investigation conducted by the FBlI after an
RTC t akeover of TexasBanc Savi ngs of Conroe, Texas (TBS), Donald
Branham (t he presi dent of Branham I ndustries, Inc. (Bll)), and co-
defendant, Gary Akin (the forner president, chairman of the board,
and sole shareholder of TBS), conspired to effect a series of
conpl ex financial schenmes (involving fictitious borrowers, check
kiting, and circunmvention of bank policies) to defraud TBS of
$3, 400, 000.

In the first offense, the proceeds of a $500, 000 unsecured
loan to Bll were to be disbursed, pursuant to Akin's authorization,
to Branham via TBS check payable to "TexasBanc Savi ngs for Donald
Br anhant' . That sanme day, the TBS check was converted to a
cashier's check for the sane anobunt nade payable to Don Branham
and the cashier's check (bearing Branham s endorsenent) was
negotiated at Fulshear State Bank (FSB) to purchase two FSB
cashier's checks in the amounts of $375,000 and $125, 000; the FSB
checks were then deposited into Akin's personal account (covering
overdrafts in the amount of $500,000) at TBS. Bl I's account ant
informed the FBI that Branham signed the note obligating BlIl with
the understanding that it was an accommobdati on for AKin, Bll's
conptroller confirmed Branhanmi s expl anation for the transaction.

In a second transaction, Akin induced a business custoner of
TBS, Jonathan Thornberry, to "free up credit" for Branham and Bl
by acting as a "straw borrower"”™ on a $1,100,000 thirty-day,

nonrecourse | oan for which the collateral would be an oil rig owned

-2



by BIl; Thornberry was led to believe that the oil rig would be
sold to him Although the sal e was never consunmated, Thornberry
executed the | oan docunents, and the proceeds were passed through
Thornberry's TBS account and deposited into Bll's general account
at TBS. After the thirty-day repaynent deadline cane and went,
Aki n persuaded Thornberry to execute a renewal note for $1, 200, 000;
$1,178,000 was disbursed to TBS in paynent of the original
i ndebt edness and interest accrued thereon; Akin disbursed the
bal ance to Thornberry for "bei ng a good custoner of the bank". The
| oan was renewed again by Branham then, in March 1989, Charles
Lewi s, another TBS custoner, renewed it. Bank records reflect that
the BlIl rig served as collateral for each of the | oan renewals.
The | oan renmai ned unpai d when the RTC t ook over TBS.

The investigation also reveal ed another series of offenses
that began sonetine in July 1987 and continued through Cctober
1988: Branham engaged in a "checking kiting" schenme in which he
directed BIl enployees to present drafts drawn on Branhams
personal account at O ydesdal e Bank of London, Engl and, for deposit
in Bll's TBS account. Upon deposit, Akin instructed TBS enpl oyees
to issue imediate credit and send the drafts to MBank, TBS
i nternational correspondent, for collection. As each draft was
returned by C ydesdal e for insufficient funds, Branhamdirected BI |
enpl oyees to issue another draft in a large anount (to cover the
returned draft plus additional anount he used for operating
deficits). According to Bll's accountant, Branham s explanation

for the practice was that he needed the noney for his business and
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it was a way of getting an interest-free |oan. Between February
1988 and Cct ober 1988 BlIl incurred overdrafts at TBS i n t he anmount
of $1, 800, 000.

Branham was indicted for (1) bank fraud, in violation of 18
US C 8 1344 (counts 1, 4 and 8); (2) m sapplication of funds, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. 8 657 (count 2, 5, 9-28); (3) conspiracy to
commt bank fraud, to msapply funds, and to |aunder nonetary
instrunments, in violation of 18 U S.C. § 371 (count 3 and 7); and
(4) noney |laundering, in violation of 18 U S.C. § 1956 (count 6).
In a witten plea agreenent, Branham agreed to plead guilty to
counts 7 through 28; 1in exchange for the guilty plea, the
Governnent agreed to (a) recomend that relevant conduct be
determ ned only from counts 7-28 (the parties acknow edged that
such an agreenent was not binding on the court); (b) recommend t hat
Branham be awar ded an adj ustnent for acceptance of responsibility;
(c) recommend, and nove for, dismssal of counts 1-6; and (d)
forego prosecution for any other offenses arising from Branham s
association with TBS. At a rearrai gnnment hearing, Branhamentered
his guilty plea.

Using the 1988 @uidelines Mnual, the probation officer
determ ned Branhamis base offense level to be 6 under U S S G

§ 2F1.1(a).! Because the offense (a) resulted in a total loss to

The PSR does not explain why the 1988 edition of the
Cui del i nes Manual was used. It would appear that the version in
effect at the tinme of sentencing, Dec. 15, 1993, should have been
used. 18 U.S.C. 8 3553(a)(4); US S .G 8§ 1B1.11(a), p.s. (Nov.
1993). There was no objection, and the appellant insists that he
was "entitled to be sentenced under date of offense guidelines."”
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TBS in the anmbunt of $3, 400,000, and (b) involved a conpl ex schene
to defraud TBS, the probation officer nade a twelve-|evel upward
adjustnment in base offense level (ten levels pursuant to 8§
2F1. 1(b)(1)(K) and two levels pursuant to 8 2F1.1(b)(2)(A)); the
probation officer also determned that a three-level upward
adj ust nent was appropriate for an aggravating rol e under 8§ 3B1. 1(b)
as Branham exerci sed a managerial and supervisory role over Bll's
accountant, conptroller, and several BlIl enployees, and was a co-
conspirator with AKin in an extensive operation to defraud TBS in
mul tiple schenmes. A two-I|evel downward adj ust nent was awarded for
acceptance of responsibility. Applying a total offense | evel of 19
to a crimnal history category of | yielded a quideline
i npri sonnment range of 30-37 nonths. At the sentencing hearing, the
district court overruled Branham s objections to the PSR, denied
his request for an evidentiary hearing, adopted the factual
findings contained therein, sentenced Branham to a term of
i mpri sonment of 30 nonths, and inposed restitution of $1,800, 000
and an assessnent of $1,100.

The Request For an Evidentiary Hearing

Branham argues that the district court commtted error by
denyi ng his request for an evidentiary hearing to present evidence
to rebut allegedly incorrect factual matters in the PSR and by
i nposi ng a sentence W thout an adequate resol ution of the di sputed
findings. A sentencing court's decision to grant an evidentiary
hearing is reviewed by this Court for abuse of discretion. UsS.

v. Pologruto, 914 F.2d 67, 69 (5th Cr. 1990). "Wen a trial court
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is faced with specifically disputed facts, it nmust resolve themif
they are used to determne the sentence.” 1d.; see Fed. R Cim
P. 32(c)(3)(D). Rule 32 does not require, however, a "catechismc
regurgitation of each fact determ ned and each fact rejected when
they are determnable froma PSR that the court has adopted by
reference.” U_S. v. Sherbak, 950 F.2d 1095, 1099 (5th Cr. 1992).

When a sentencing court expressly adopts the facts set forth in the
PSR, there is an inplicit determnation by the court that the
probation departnent's version of the facts should be credited.
Id. If a defendant objects to the PSR but does not present
rebuttal evidence torefute the facts, the district court nay adopt
the facts in the PSR without further inquiry. 1d. at 1099-1100.
In his witten objections to the PSR and at the sentencing
heari ng, Branham asserted conclusionally, and w thout allegations
of specific rebuttal evidence, that (1) the probation officer erred
by treating his participationinthe transactions form ng di sm ssed
counts 1-6 ($500,000 Akin | oan and the $1, 100, 000 Thor nberry | oan)
as relevant conduct because it was "unsubstantiated conduct for
which [he] has not been convicted," and (2) that the probation
officer's determ nation that Branhamexerci sed a managerial rolein
t he of fense was i naccurate because he did not control Akin or Bll's
accountant, conptroller, or other enployees. The district court
adopted the PSR s findings that Branham actively conspired with
Akin to defraud TBSin the transactions underlying di sm ssed counts
1-6 and that Branham did exercise managerial and supervisory

conduct over at least five participants in the other extensive
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overdraft offense. Because Branham did not submit any specific
rebuttal evidence to counter the PSR s findings and offered only
general denials, the district court did not clearly err in adopting
the PSR s findings as its own; because no further findings were
required (and there were no unresolved factual nmatters), the
district court did not abuse its discretion in denying an
evidentiary hearing.

The Adjustnent for Rel evant Conduct

Branham al so asserts that the district court erred when it
adj usted Branham s of fense | evel for rel evant conduct pertainingto
di sm ssed counts 1 through 6 (for losses to TBS arising fromthe
$500, 000 unsecured | oan and t he $1, 100, 000 Thornberry | oan) because
(a) Branham and the Governnment agreed in the plea agreenent that
the only conduct of Branham rel evant for sentencing would be the
conduct underlying counts 7 through 28, and (b) the Governnent did
not prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Branham was
responsi ble for the conduct.

This Court reviews the application of +the Sentencing

Gui delines de novo and the district court's findings of fact for

clear error. U.S. v. Sanders, 942 F.2d 894, 897 (5th Gr. 1991).
Under the 1988 Guidelines Manual, if an offense involved fraud or
deceit, the base offense |l evel nmay be increased by ten if the | oss
exceeded $2,000,000. 8 2F1.1(b)(1)(K). In a loan fraud case, the
| oss is the anmount of the anobunt of the | oan not repaid at the tine
that the fraud is discovered, mnus any recovery or expected

recovery. U.S. v. Frydenlund, 990 F.2d 822, 825 (5th Cr.), cert.

-7-



denied, 114 S. C. 192 (1993). Calculation of loss is a factual
finding that will be affirnmed if it is plausible in light of the
record as a whole. U.S. v. Wnbish, 980 F.2d 312, 313 (5th Gr.

1992), cert. denied, 113 S. C. 2365 (1993). Under the 1988

guidelines, if the conviction is for conspiracy, relevant conduct
i ncl udes "conduct in furtherance of the conspiracy that was known
to or was reasonably foreseeable by the defendant.™ § 1B1.3
coment. (n.1). The district court may consi der any evi dence that
has "sufficient indicia of reliability to support its probable
accuracy." 8§ 6A1.3, coment. A defendant who objects to
consideration of information by the sentencing court bears the
burden of proving that it is "materially untrue, inaccurate or

unreliable.” U.S. v. Angulo, 927 F.2d 202, 205 (5th Gr. 1991).

Notwi t hst andi ng his agreenent with the Governnent respecting
t he scope of his rel evant conduct, the pl ea agreenent provides that
"such an agreenent is not binding upon the court.” Branham s brief
concedes that "a sentencing court is not bound by any sti pul ati on",
and that "it is wthin the court's discretion, with the aid of the
presentence report [], to determ ne facts rel evant to sentenci ng".
The brief also concedes that the sentencing court may rely on
di sm ssed counts in the determ nation of relevant conduct.

Branham contends that the Governnent failed to prove by a
preponderance of the evidence that he was responsible for the
conduct underlying the di sm ssed counts, and he asserts that he was
unaware that Akin made and received the proceeds of the |oans

Wth respect to the $500,000 unsecured |oan, the district court
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relied on the PSR s determ nati ons, and Branham does not chall enge
that (1) the $500,000 check representing the proceeds of the
unsecured | oan bears his endorsenent, (2) Akin was |isted on Bll's
books as the nmaker of the note, (3) he instructed BlIl's accountant
to disregard paynent notices from TBS, and (4) he told BII
personnel that he was carrying Akin's note on Bll's books as a
favor to Akin. Nor does Branham dispute the PSR s findings that
(1) the proceeds of the Thornberry | oan were deposited into Bll's
account and (2) Branham was aware of the transaction because he
t hanked Thornberry at a social occasion for freeing up Bll's credit
line. Because the district court adopted the PSR s findings that
Branham was aware of Akin's conduct to defraud TBS, it did not
clearly err by treating Branhanis facilitation as rel evant conduct
when sent enci ng him

Adj ust ment for Manager or Supervisor

Branham further contends that the district court erred in
assessing a three-level upward adjustnent because he was not a
manager or a supervisor under § 3Bl.1(b) because he did not
exercise control over five participants in the offense. A
sentencing court's decision to increase an offense level for a
defendant's aggravating role is a factual determnation that this

Court reviews for clear error. U.S. v. Rodriguez, 897 F.2d 1324,

1325 (5th Gr.), cert. denied, 498 U S. 857 (1990).

Using the 1988 guidelines, a three-level adjustnent is
appropriate "if the defendant was a manager or supervisor (but not

an organi zer or |leader) and the crimnal activity involved five or
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nore participants or was ot herwi se extensive . . . ." § 3Bl.1(b).
"I'n determ ning the nunber of participants in a crimnal activity,

the district court nust focus upon the nunber of transactiona

participants, which can be inferentially cal cul ated provi ded that
the court does not | ook beyond the of fense of conviction to enl arge

the class of participants.” US. v. Wlder, 15 F. 3d 1292, 1299

(5th Cr. 1994) (internal quotation and citation omtted). The
offense is not limted to the offense charged but includes the
entire underlying schene.

The record denonstrates that Branham participated in a
crimnal activity which involved at |east five individuals and was
ot herwi se extensi ve. Branham hinself my be counted as a
participant. Akin, Herman Poage (Bll's accountant), Steve Shanks
(Bl'l'"s conmptroller), and BlIl enpl oyees who prepared the fraudul ent
custoner drafts were participants in the wunderlying crimnal
schene. The crimnal activity was extensive (the overdraft schene
i nvol ved MBank, TBS s foreign correspondent bank in Houston and
Cl ydesdal e Bank of London, Engl and) and Branham acted as a nanager
and a supervisor (he instructed Bll enpl oyees when to prepare the
custoner drafts and in what anount) of crimnal activity. Because
the district court's determnations that Branham played an
aggravating role are supported by the record, the adjustnent under
8§ 3Bl.1(b) was not clear error.

Doubl e Counting Under §8 2F1.1(b)(2) and 8 3Bl. 1(b)

Branham argues that the district court inpermssibly double

counted when it increased his offense |l evel by "two | evels for nore
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than m nimal planning under U S.S.G 8§ 2F1.1(b)(2) in addition to
a three-level enhancenent for aggravating role in the offense under

US S G 8§ 3BlL.1(b)." In US v. Godfrey, 25 F.3d 263, 264 (5th

Cr. 1994), this Court recently considered the propriety of
adj ustnments wunder both sections and concluded that "[Db]ecause
neither 8 3B1.1 nor 8§ 2F1.1 forbid doubl e-counting with each ot her,
i ncreases under both of those sections are permtted." Accordingly,
the district court did not inpermssibly adjust Branham s of fense
| evel .

The judgnent of the trial court is AFFI RMED
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